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THE CHAIRPERSON: Ladies and gentlemen, before evidence is
called this morning, the Board of Inquiry wishes to
acknowledge that today 1is the 26th anniversary of the

Moura No. 2 mine disaster, in which 11 Tives were lost and
the 1lives of many more destructively impacted.

That this anniversary falls within a period of public
hearings of this inquiry underscores the collective need
and responsibility we who are concerned in this 1inquiry
have in recommending meaningful improvement in safety for
coal miners.

Yes, Mr Rice.

MR RICE: If the Board pleases, I call Stephen Woods.
<STEPHEN WOODS, affirmed: [10.01am]
<EXAMINATION BY MR RICE:

MR RICE: Q. Is your name Stephen Woods?
A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Mr Woods, you are employed by the CFMMEU; am I right?
A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And you occupy the position of industry safety and
health representative under the Coal Mining Safety and
Health Act?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. You were first elected, I think, to that position in

July 20127?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And elected on a ballot of members of the union;

correct?

A. I was elected unopposed into the position.

Q. But those who vote are members of the union, are they?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Similarly, you have been re-elected two more times,

in July 2016 and July 20207?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. With the assistance of representation, you have
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prepared an affidavit for use at the inquiry, have you not?
A. Yes, I have.

Q. I will just put that in front of you so that we can
discuss some parts of it. Okay?
A. Yes.

Q. Mr Operator, it is WST.001.001.0001. Mr Woods,

I think to begin with, you want to make some correction
I've been notified of; is that right?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. I think it pertains to paragraph 48. Let's just get
that out of the way. Okay?
A. Yes, 48, yes.

Q. I have been told you want to omit the second sentence
of paragraph 48 from your affidavit; is that correct?

A. I believe it to be the third sentence.

Q. The third sentence. On reflection, you would prefer
to omit that; is that the situation?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Anything else?
A. No.

Q. Could you tell us, is it Mr Smyth who is the secretary
of the Mining and Energy Division?
A. Sorry, did you say Mr Smyth?

Q. Yes.

A. No, he is the president.

Q. I see. Do you know who the secretary of that division
is?

A. I do. Currently it is Glenn Power.

MR CRAWSHAW: Excuse me, I take it my friend is asking
about the Mining and Energy Division in Queensland?

MR RICE: Correct.
MR CRAWSHAW: Yes.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Thank you, Mr Crawshaw.
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MR RICE: Q. You may not know the details, but just to
set a bit of framework, do you have some idea from your
eight years of experience in the job what the current
membership coverage is in Queensland in the mines that we
are concerned with, that is to say, what proportion of
workers are members?

A. Yes, I've got around-about figures, yes. I have heard
them in passing and at some meetings, yes.

Q. We could get the exact details from one or other of
the officials you have mentioned, but just to assist for
today's purposes, could you tell us what you know?

A. Yes, 7,000 is the figure that has been recently
bandied around.

Q. Seven thousand members?
A. Yes.
Q. Out of how many? I think earlier in the proceedings,

we were told there might be as many as 37,000 coal mine
workers 1in Queensland.

A. I will have to take your word on that. I don't know
how many people are in the coal industry.

Q. For working purposes, you would be aware, for example,
whether it is, say, less than half? Would it be Tess than
half?

A. Yes, I suppose so, yes.

Q. The reason I ask is that under the Act, the members
not only elect you but they pay for you, do they not?
A. Members do, yes, yes.

Q. The funding model is that your function and that of
your colleagues, your two colleagues, is funded, is it not,
by Tevies imposed on members?

A. That's correct.

Q. That is to say, their union dues?

A. Yes, that's correct, as in subscription dues, yes.
Q. You would be aware of functions and powers under the

Act in sections 118 and 119 - you would have a working
knowledge of those, I assume?

A. Yes.
Q. The functions and powers, as one reads it, are not
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confined to representation of the members who elect you and
pay for you; correct?
A. That's correct.

Q. What is your approach to that scenario in terms of
carrying out your functions, that a limited category of
coal mine workers elect you and pay for you, but
nonetheless your responsibilities extend industry wide?
A. I don't understand what you mean there.

Q. Well, do you approach the job from the perspective
which 1is apparent from sections 118 and 119 that you have

a representational role for all coal mine workers?

A. Yes, and so if I take a complaint from a person who is
not a member of ours, then, yes, we deal with it.

Q. Do you know whether the union has ever made any
representations to government, for example, concerning the
fairness of that funding model?

A. I'm not aware of that.

Q. You operate out of the Mackay office; am I right?
A. That's correct.

Q. Which of the four mines that we are concerned with

does that give you primary contact with - Moranbah North?
A. Moranbah North, yes.

Q. Grosvenor?

A. Yes.

Q. Oaky North?

A. No.

Q. And Grasstree?

A. No.

Q. But all three of you exercise similar functions and

presumably carry them out in a similar way, in your
experience?
A. Yes.

Q. In your affidavit, you speak about the relationship
with site safety health representatives. Obviously, they
are based on site, whereas you are some hours' drive from
any of the mines that you are concerned with; am I right?
A. That's correct.
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Q. So would you just tell us in your words what is the
importance of that relationship?
A. I think it's extremely important. They're our eyes

and ears out there, and they tell us if something is
happening that they can't deal with or that sort of thing,
yes. So it's a very strong relationship in some cases.

Q. Do you try to cultivate a relationship with the SSHRs?
A. When we can, yes.

Q. How do you do that?

A. We hold safety conferences every 12 months, where we
invite all the SSHRs to come along, and provide some
education and training at those seminars, week Tong.

Q. Can you tell me why the union takes it on itself to do
that annual training?
A. From a personal opinion, I think that it's done to

educate the SSHRs in their role and --

Q. Is that advantageous to you, in the long run, that
they be educated?
A. Yes.

Q. So on that footing, the union pays for I think it is
an annual conference of some kind, is it not?
A. That's correct, yes.

Q. It goes for, what, four days?
A. Yes. It starts at Tunchtime on Monday and goes to
lunchtime on Friday.

Q. Apart from the opportunity that that gives you to
educate and network a little bit, in terms of day-to-day
operations is there some method that you use to cultivate
the necessary relationship so that the lines of
communication are good?

A. When we do inspections, we make sure that they're
there and they come with us during that, and we try and
work around their rosters, between the day and night shift,
say they're on day shift, so they can attend with us at
those inspections. At the conference, we talk closely
with - because obviously the industry is still chugging
along, so we talk with them during that conference, we have
brief one-on-ones and stuff Tike that.
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Q. In the course of the year, do you, for example, feel

a need to have a regular catch-up, be it by phone or by way
of meetings, say weekly or monthly? Does anything 1like
that occur?

A. At their request, yes, we would do that, but - yes.

Q. It is not a fixed program?

A. No, no, we don't have an outlined agenda or that sort
of thing where we meet each SSHR every six months or
something, no.

Q. You communicate as needs be?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. According to issues that arise?
A. Yes. Yes, that's correct.

O

You mentioned inspections. Do you have any program of
regu]ar inspections or are they done as need be?

A. We have a system where we have to try and get around
to all the mines once a year and then all undergrounds
twice a year, if we can, and we have a database where that
gets put up. The ISHR that actually attended the mine
actually fills that in, so then we can work out which pits
are falling behind and go from there, schedule inspections
from there.

Q. In the inspections that you do, is there like

a checklist or some systematic approach to the things that
you intend to do, or 1is it fashioned to the particular
needs at the time?

A. It will be fashioned to the particular needs. If it
is an event or something that has occurred and it's a short
notice - it might be a complaint and it's a short notice
complaint, we'll just give notice and then head to the
mine. If it's a scheduled inspection, we will give a
little bit more notice, so the companies know that we're
coming, because we have to give reasonable note. Then we
will probably do a bit of pre-work, which is check for HPIs
that have occurred, and then go to the mine from there.

Q. Prior to doing an inspection, would you make contact
with an SSHR to determine if there are any current issues?
A. Yes, obviously that's right, and then there would be
some - the notification that we send to the SSE is copied
in to the SSHR as well.
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Q. Well, the notification, does that just advise that you
wish to attend on a certain occasion, or does it give

a list of things that you are proposing to do?

A. There's either. It can be - depending on who is - on
what the issue is, I might ask to review some documents
when I first get to the mine, so I will include them so
they're ready for me when I get there.

Q. We were talking about the relationship with the SSHRs.
You note in your affidavit that you have a good working
relationship with those at Moranbah North?

A. That's correct.

Q. It so happens that they are permanent, full-time
employees there?

A. Yes.

Q. Are they members?

A. Yes.

Q. That connection presumably makes it easier to
establish and maintain 1lines of communication?

A. Yes, I suppose you could say that. They are more

willing to discuss matters with us, it would appear,
generally.

Q. More willing than what?

A. Than people that aren't members.

Q. I think you use Grosvenor as an example of that?
A Yes.

Q. Just looking at paragraph 15 of your affidavit, you
say that it is problematic having an SSHR who is a Tabour
hire employee, and so on for the rest of that paragraph.
Just take a moment to have a look at that.

A. Yes.

Q. Firstly, is that an opinion of yours or is it based on
something more concrete?
A. Oh, it's obviously my opinion, but --

Q. I want to see what supports your opinion.

A. Yes, well, if we use that example, the people from
Grosvenor, or the SSHRs from Grosvenor, have never attended
a safety conference.
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Q. In how Tong?

A. Well, not since the eight years I've been in the role.
Q. They have been invited, I presume, from what you said
earlier?

A. Yes, yes. We send a copy out to the SSE as well, as
part of the invite.

Q. You mentioned that there can be a turnover of SSHRs,
but, 1in truth, some contract workers work for years at the
mines, don't they, on repeat contracts?

A. Yes, that's correct, yes.

Q. Well, that turnover that you speak of wouldn't be
applicable in that kind of scenario, would it?

A. Well, it may be. It depends on who the SSHR is at the
time.

Q. Is that opinion that you express in paragraph 15 to
contrast Moranbah North with Grosvenor?
A. Yes, I would think so, yes.

Q. Have you been at Mackay throughout the eight years
that you have been serving?
A. Yes.

Q. So in terms of underground mines that we are concerned
with, it's Moranbah North and Grosvenor that provide your
experience base; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Let's go a little bit wider than that just to
understand. Is that issue that you mention at paragraph 15
reflected in other mines for which you might be responsible
beyond the ones that this inquiry is directly concerned
with, or is it confined to Grosvenor?

A. Offhand I can't think of any other area where that
does apply.

Q. So far as the Grosvenor experience is concerned, you
talk about that at paragraphs 19 and onwards. I hear what
you say about their not attending the conference, which is
a useful opportunity for networking, education and so
forth, but you say that you have been unable to develop

a relationship. Could you describe for us what efforts you
have made in that respect?

A. Well, obviously invitations to the safety conference
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and inspections.

Q. Do they accompany you on inspections when you go to
Grosvenor?
A. They haven't, no.

Q. You notify them that you are going to attend?

A. I can't be a hundred per cent certain, but I don't
think there was any there when I first went out there to
the mine; there was no elected SSHRs. There was a safety
representative, and he did attend.

Q. Over eight years, you would have done numerous
inspections at Grosvenor, wouldn't you?

A. Offhand I can't - I've done inspections at Grosvenor,
yes.

Q. I was thinking back to the program that you mentioned
earlier, that you visit the mines, what, at least annually,
don't you?

A. We try, yes.

Q. On such inspections as you have had at Grosvenor, have
you liaised with the SSHR to see if he would accompany you
or wish to accompany you on an inspection? Do you see what
I'm asking you? Did you initiate contact --

A. No.
Q. -- with the SSHR for that purpose?
A. Apart from sending out the notification that I was

coming to site, no.

Q. Could you confirm for us that you did issue

a notification to the incumbent SSHR? I assume you do that
by email; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you send an email to the SSHR or include the SSHR
in the notification?

A. I wouldn't have, no, because I didn't know who they
were at that time.

Q. We're talking about a long time, aren't we - eight
years?
A. It doesn't mean that it's the same SSHR for eight
years.
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Q. No.
A. It can be multiple people.

Q. I understand. But over that time frame, have you
given one or more notifications to an SSHR about your
intended inspection?

A. At Grosvenor?

Q. Yes.
A. Apart from sending it to the SSE, no.

Q. Why would you not include the SSHR by copying an email
to that person or persons?
A. I don't believe I had details for him or them.

Q. Well, with due respect, that would not be difficult to
ascertain, would it?
A. Sorry?

Q. It wouldn't be difficult to find out who the rep was,
would it?
A. No, I suppose not. I could have rung, yes.

Q. The SSE would tell you if you asked, wouldn't he?
A. I believe so.

Q. So when issues arise that you wish to follow up on
concerning Grosvenor, have you attempted to make phone
contact to try to establish a 1ine of communication there?

A. Sorry, can you repeat that question?

Q. Presumably issues that you want to follow up on arise
from Grosvenor mine from time to time?

A. Yes.

Q. Would that be fair to say?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm asking you, when such occasions arise, whether you

have initiated phone contact to the SSHR or one of them to
discuss the issue?

A. No.
Q. Is there some reason?
A. I haven't dealt with too many issues from Grosvenor
mine.
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Q. You have said on that same subject at paragraph 22
that you prefer SSHRs to be union members because they are
more effective in the role. How does their being union
members make them more effective, in your experience?

A. I believe they are not as fearful for their job as -
the precarious employment arrangement makes it a little

bit - and this is what we hear from the blokes on the sites
as well, 1is that, "I don't want to be seen with you", and
all that sort of stuff, "because it may mean that I get the
arse or get unemployed."

Q. To be fair to you, I asked you a moment ago about your
notification to the SSHR about a site visit or your
attempts to contact the SSHR to discuss any issue that
might have arisen. Have you had any experience of any of
the SSHRs at Grasstree contacting you --

A. No.

Q. -- for discussion or assistance with any issue?

A. No.

Q. So is there any communication at all between you and
the SSHRs at Grosvenor?

A. No, none.

Q. None?

A. None, except after - post May 6.

Q. Well, that being a very significant event. Did that
really compel that you come together?
A. Yes.

Q. You mentioned a moment ago that in conversations with
workers at Grosvenor, you have heard it expressed to you
that workers don't want to be seen with you; is that right?
A. That's correct.

Q. Are you able to tell us with what frequency that has
occurred?

A. Not offhand, no, but - Tike, I can't give you

a figure, yes.

Q. But, what, more than once?

A. Yes.

Q. Many more than once?

A. I would say - it would be definitely many more than
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once.

Q. In paragraph 23 you talk about that, and you say that
"we" - that is you and your colleagues - have formed the
view, speaking of the SSHRs, that they will be too scared
to talk to you. Is that comment, as the sentence reads,
referable to SSHRs?

A. Yes, that's talking about SSHRs, yes.

Q. In the Tast sentence of that, where you say, "We have
also had people say to us while we have meetings",
et cetera, are you speaking there about workers?

A. Yes.

Q. Who are not SSHRs?

A. Yes, workers, yes.

Q. You give an experience in the first part of

paragraph 24. Are you able to give us any more detail
about the experience that you describe, that you have
observed some people don't wish to engage with you at the
mine?

A. I generally know a few people that work at Grosvenor,
and it's a different - the relationship I had with them
from working with them before at different mines is
different when you go to site at Grosvenor.

Q. What do you attribute that to?

A. I think it's because I'm - well, I'm employed by the
CFMEU and I think that's why they - they're a bit nervous
to come and talk to us about anything in case it can be
considered that they're making complaints or that sort of
thing.

Q. Workers have said that to you, have they, according to
your previous evidence?

A. Not that question there; it actually goes to the
people I personally know. That one above goes to people,
coal mine workers, at meetings that I wouldn't know and
wouldn't have a relationship with.

Q. Understood.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Q. Mr Woods, these workers to whom you
are referring, are some of them members of the CFMMEU but
also Tabour hire employees?

A. Some would, yes.
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Q. Are you saying that they too are reluctant to speak to
you, even though they are members of the CFMMEU?
A. To be seen with us gives the impression that they may

be raising complaints, whether they're members or
non-members.

MR RICE: Q. For those who haven't read sections 118 and
119 of the Coal Mining Act, would you accept that a worker
could be forgiven for thinking that you were the union rep
and not an industry rep?

A. If you read 118 and 119 and know it, I think you could
be - you can't mix them up. But if you don't know what's
in 118 and 119, yes, you could think that because I wear
branded clothes at site and that sort of stuff, that

I could be the CFMEU rep.

Q. I was going to ask you about your clothing. You are
visibly the person from the union; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Is it your experience that contract workers tend not
to be union members?

A. It varies, but yes.

Q. It's a bit hard to generalise?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Given that I think people could be expected to know
that if you wear branded clothes and you are elected by
members and paid for by members, it could be that workers
perceive you to be the union rep, but you have accepted,

I think, that by reference to the sections that I've
quoted, you have a wider responsibility. I'm wondering how
you go about promoting to the wider community of workers
that you are their representative and not just the union
man?

A. Me personally?
Q. Yes.
A. I suppose when we're out integrating with the coal

mine workers, we try and inform them that we hold a much
different role than a CFMEU representative as such. We
can't deal with industrial matters; it's safety and health
only, so - yes.

Q. Is that done in any structured way? Do you have the
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opportunity, for example, to publish anything, to send

a circular around, or an email - promote your services is
really what I'm interested in?

A. Yes, we have sent out safety alerts, or one of us has
send out safety alerts out to all general mines, and on
that it explains the powers and functions and that sort of
stuff. We've done it at our forums that we hold. And
generally at other meetings throughout the year, like, if
we get invited to attend a meeting of certain branches, we
attend there and explain to everyone that's there. We've
attended meetings, and if there has been an accident or
that sort of thing, we get out and talk to people about
what our role is and that sort of stuff as well. But

I don't think we've sent out any circulars or anything like
that.

Q. Do you think, then, from your interaction with workers
that it is appreciated that you are an industry rep and not
a union man as such?

A. I think once you have the discussion with the coal
mine workers, then they generally understand that there is
a difference, yes.

Q. And you would expect the word would spread about that,
would you?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that the way you approach it?

A. Yes.

Q. Speak to workers and the word gets around - is that
your approach?

A. That's correct.

Q. Do you get many complaints made to you? One of your

functions is to investigate complaints. Do you get many
complaints in your function?
A. Yes, yes, yes.

Q. Is that a big part of your work?

A. Yes, it's a - and obviously we're cognisant of the
fact that we're only hearing one side, but, yes, we do get
a number of complaints, yes.

Q. Do you find that the person who makes a complaint
identifies themselves as to whether they are a union member
or not?
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A. Some do. Some will send complaints in writing and
with no return address, so you can't actually give feedback
to the event or your investigation.

Q. When you receive a complaint, do you check whether the
person is a union member or not?

A. Yes, we do, yes.

Q. Is there a question of fairness, in your mind, in

terms of prioritising complaints, that members have paid
for you to advocate for them and others haven't?

A. I suppose, yes, that does cross my mind when you take
a complaint, yes.

Q. It's only reasonable, isn't it, in a sense, that some
pay and some don't?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And you are conscious of that; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know whether you get complaints from labour
hire workers?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to assist in what proportion to
complaints overall?

A. Not by numbers, no, but we do get a number of

complaints from labour hire.

Q. How do those complaints rank in the priorities
compared with complaints made by union members?
A. Well, just because they're labour hire doesn't mean

they're not union members. Obviously that will be part of
the process in investigating the complaint.

Q. Perhaps my question wasn't clear enough before. Do
you get complaints from workers who are not union members?
A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to say in what proportion you receive
complaints from people who are not union members?
A. No, no. No. We do receive complaints from people

that aren't union members, yes.

Q. Do you get as many from that source as you do from
members, can you say?
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A. I would say it's probably about a quarter, if I had to
add a figure, yes.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Q. And yet they make up the majority
of workers at the mines you l1ook after?

A. The majority of mines that I look after are probably -
you would have to say from the figures that were provided
before, which I don't know if they're correct or not, but
just say they are, then, yes, you would have to say that
the majority of them would be non-union and - yes.

Q. So if you get a complaint from a non-union member, is
that dealt with differently in any way to your dealing with
a complaint by a union member?

A. It's the same process, but obviously if you're dealing
with something at the time, you might prioritise that --

Q. The union member's complaint over the non-union
member's complaint?
A. Yes, yes.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Yes, Mr Rice.

MR RICE: Q. You speak a 1ittle bit about the
inspectorate investigations from paragraph 27 onwards of
your affidavit, and you contrast what you describe as
recent times to things that have happened in the past;
correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Looking at paragraph 28, you said that you used to get
regular information of certain kinds. In paragraph (b) you

refer to "inspection reports". Would that be mine record
entries?

A. Yes.

Q. And "directives" - would they also be mine record
entries or associated with mine record entries?

A. Yes.

Q. And you used to get that because you were on

a distribution 1ist until earlier in the year; is that
right?

A. That's correct.

Q. So for those two items, we can connect that to the

email that you received saying, "We're not going to do that
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any more"?
A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Newsletters and safety bulletins - would they not be
available on the internet?

A. Yes, it's a 1Tittle bit difficult to get around, but,
yes, you can get them off their website, yes.

Q. You have to go and 1ook for them?

A. Yes, yes, and it's not an easy system. You've
actually got to do a search, and it brings up four
different inspectorates instead of just the Department of
Mines and Energy.

Q. You're saying their website is a bit hard to
negotiate?
A. Yes.

Q. Did you previously get such things directly, for
example, by email?
A. Yes.

Q. That has stopped as well, has it?

A. Not the newsletters and safety bulletins - the safety
bulletins and safety alerts, that sort of stuff, yes, we
still get them.

Q. By email?

A. Yes.

Q. And investigation reports - what kind of
investigations are you talking about?

A. If they go to the mine to have a 1ook at an HPI 1issue

or something 1ike that, then we would get a copy of that.

Q. Well, any inspection creates an MRE, doesn't it, in
your experience?

A. Yes.

Q. So, again, if you talk about investigation reports, we

can put that in the category of MREs, can we?
A. Yes.

Q. You talk a 1ittle more about inspections and
investigations a 1little Tater in your affidavit at pages 11
and 12. If you wouldn't mind, if we could go to

paragraph 71 for discussion, are you speaking there about
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investigation of serious accidents, or what is the context
for paragraph 717

A. Yes, that's probably in respect - it's in respect to
a fatality.

Q. Fatalities, okay. You conclude that by saying that
not being provided with interview transcripts, et cetera,
makes it difficult for you to do a "fulsome" investigation.
I just note that word because, as I think you would know,
in the Act you have a function of participating in
investigations. So what do you see your role as, given
that you describe that you have difficulty in doing

a fulsome investigation? How do you connect that to the
function under the Act?

A. Well, obviously the reason that we collect evidence is
to do our own sort of gathering to try and come up with
nature and cause of the accident. Understanding that we
are only able to participate - and obviously that has
occurred, and when we get all this, we try and put it
together to see if there is any advice that we can give

or - in that way, yes.

Q. With due respect, your resources wouldn't compare with
that of the inspectorate in terms of determining nature and
cause, would it?

A. No, no.

Q. Is it more a case of wanting to know what the
inspectorate is up to than actually conducting a full and
separate investigation, or not?

A. I don't know what you mean by "what they are up to".

Q. Well, you would be aware that they have
a responsibility to conduct full investigations?
A. Yes.

Q. And they aim to determine nature and cause and they
have more resources than you do, do they not?

A. No, that's correct.

Q. So I'm wondering if your interest really is to

ascertain the progress of their determination of nature and
cause rather than attempting to conduct a full and separate
kind of investigation?

A. No, I don't think it's to find out where they're up to
or what they're doing. I believe that we try and come up
with the same - we try and do an investigation to see what

.07/08/2020 (4) 373 S WOODS (Mr Rice)

Transcript produced by Epiq

© Copyright State of Queensland (Queensland Coal Mining Board of Inquiry) 2020



O~NOOOA~, WN -

A BEADPADBDBEARADDDROOLOWOOWWOWLWWWWONDNDNDNDNDDNDNMNDNDNDDNNN-_A A2 a2 a2 aaaaa
NO OB WON_LOO0OONOOAOPRLRWON_LPOOCOONOOOCOAOPRRWON_ArOCOONOOODROON—-OO©

TRA.500.004.0020

the cause was. Yes, we are limited in resources and that,
but we still try and work out what occurred.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Q. How do you actually do that? What
do you do? Say someone is injured. What do you actually
do by way of investigation?

A. Well, we obviously take photos, that sort of stuff,
gather what we can at the time from the scene. The three
of us sit down and try and work out what possibilities
there are from the event and then go through and try and
work out, ascertain what occurred at that time.

Q. Do you have any evidence from witnesses?

A. No, and that's the issue. No. Only what we talk to
other coal mine workers on at the scene, who may have been
at the scene at the time.

Q. You do speak to those --

A. Yes.
Q. -- who may be witnesses to the accident?
A. Yes, yes, but obviously we don't get to everyone, and

it's not a - there's no transcript of that. It's only what
we ask them and they tell us.

Q. And you take notes of that?

A. Yes.

Q. But you don't get access to perhaps the eyewitnesses,
the critical witnesses to what occurred?

A. No, no, unless they wanted to come and see us and talk

to us, yes.

Q. You don't approach them?
A. Yes, we try, yes.

MR RICE: Q. You say that you try - with what degree of
success, Mr Woods?

A. Obviously if they are a union member, they are happy
to come and talk to us, normally, and they will make
themselves available to have a chat.

Q. It is more difficult if you are dealing with someone
who is not a member?
A. Yes, or someone who may be in the management structure

higher up, if you know what I mean, yes.
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Q. I don't want to overgeneralise, but at the risk of
doing so, is it a fair summary from what we have discussed
so far that you find your Tlines of inquiry are more
fruitful whenever you are dealing with union members by
contrast with those who are not?

A. As a general statement, yes, that would be correct.

Q. We haven't talked about HPIs yet, so maybe we will do
that. Could you just have a look at paragraphs 100 and 101
of your affidavit? I was just interested to see in
paragraph 101 that you describe or give perhaps an opinion
that gas exceedances are an inevitable part of coal mining.
Is that your opinion?

A. Yes.
Q. Based on what, Mr Woods?
A. Just my experience.

Q. But why do you say that they are inevitable? Is it
because they keep happening or for some other reason?

A. No, just - I was a deputy at a coal mine for an
extended period, and I find that at any sort of time you
could probably find an accumulation, whether it be a small
pocket or someone's interrupted the bag ventilation or you
have a blocked flame arrester and it causes an
accumulation.

Q. There could be a host of reasons, I suppose?
A. That's correct, yes.
Q. One feature of the HPIs is that there are so many -

not confined to methane but across the board. You get
notifications of - I think there might even be a figure in
your affidavit somewhere, but probably 30 or 40 a week?

A. Yes, something 1like that, yes.

Q. Do you have to prioritise those in some fashion?
A. Obviously if - you're talking about what we do with
them when we get them?

Q. Yes.

A. Okay, so there will be a verbal notification first,
and then within about 48 hours we will get an email with
the written notification attached. Prior to the events of
6 May, I sent them on to the administration lady, who puts
them into a drive in Brisbane, a computer system in
Brisbane. I also copy in the other two ISHRs, so they're
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aware of the same notification that I've received. With
that, they get entered then onto a system under the mine
and the year that it occurred.

Q. Perhaps if you would look at paragraphs 107 and 108,
it seems as though one of the features of the notifications
of HPIs is the fact that you are a good two to three hours'
drive away from the mine, so there is that difficulty in
responding; 1is that correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. The second feature seems to be, from paragraph 108,
that by the time you get a notification, the mine has
already taken action to try to resolve the situation?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Is that reflected to you in the notification you get,
either verbally or in form 1A?

A. Both, yes, and the conversation that we have with
either the SSE or his delegate is - that conversation is
about what was the cause, how long did the event occur for,
what have you done since, that sort of thing.

Q. Do I take it that for the most part, you get, from
your point of view, a sufficient body of information in the
form 1A for your purposes?

A. I think so. It would be good to have a Took at the
investigation report, but we don't get sent them.

Q. That's the subsequent form 5A?
A. Yes, yes.

Is that what you are talking about?
Yes, yes.

Have you had occasion to ask for that report?
I have, yes.

>0 =0

And have you received it?
In some occasions, I have received it, yes.

>0

Q. Depending on, what, the circumstances, or depending on
the mine, or what?

A. Depending on the mine, yes.

Q. You have told us about how these documents are
processed in your office.
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A. Yes.

Q. I'm wondering if you have the capability - that is to
say, the time and the resources - to look at HPIs that
might be repeating themselves at a given mine so that you
can see what issue there might be from a trend or
repetition?

A. I'm not aware if the other two have searched on that
database, but I don't think that I have. It depends -
like, post 6 May - we understand that there were some
issues with the system, so post 6 May I talked with the
admin manager in Brisbane and she has actually entered -
we've got a new system now where we enter it in

FileMaker Pro and there is an OH&S thing there, which
actually puts them in under the mine and what the event was
classified as, so it makes it easier to search. So post

6 May, we could do it. Pre 6 May, I'm unsure whether any
of the others did, but I didn't.

Q. But that event prompted you to change your method of
review of these things; is that right?

A. Yes.
Q. Correct?
A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Is it correct, though, taking paragraphs 107 and 108
of your affidavit together, that by and large, if we're
talking about an incident that didn't result in any injury
warranting you to go to the mine and make some inquiry, you
regard the information you get in the form 1A typically as
sufficient for you to see what's happened and that the mine
is taking action?

A. Yes, and obviously it has been released by the
inspector.
Q. That scenario of being notified of an HPI which is an

exceedance without injury, is that by contrast with any
occasion of 1injury to a person, in which case you would go
to the mine to make some inquiry; is that right?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Where there is an injury - and we're talking about an
injury that qualifies as a serious accident; 1is that the
demarcation?

A. Yes, I believe so, yes.
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Q. In that event, do the three of you, all three of you,
go to the mine and attempt to make inquiries?

A In general, yes.

Q. Can I ask why all three of you go?

A Obviously --

Q. Is it just a habit?

A. We've been talking about fatalities, and so, yes, it's

a major event in the industry, so, yes, and there's more
experience between the three of us, and then - so, yes.

MR RICE: That's all I have, Mr Martin.

THE CHAIRPERSON: Q. But you also go if there 1is an
ignition of gas; is that right?
A. Yes, we could, yes.

Q. I was just going from paragraph 109:

If there has been an ignition of gas, or if
a coal mine worker has been injured by gas,
I will always go straight to the coal

mine ...

Paragraph 109.
A. Yes, I believe that, "If there has been an ignition of
gas or if a coal miner has been injured by gas" - yes.

Q. Tell me if it's not quite right. We can amend the
paragraph.

A. If the coal miner has been injured by that gas, by
that ignition.

Q. Right, okay. Do you work a consistent shift or are
there different shifts for you?
A. No, we all work day shift.

Q. What hours are they?
A. From 8 ti11 4.30.

Q. Could I ask what a typical day involves for you?
Obviously you don't go to the mines every day?
A. No, no.

Q. What is a typical day for you?
A We head over to the office. First of all, I will do
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notifications for HPIs. I send them away.

Q. To whom?

A. To the admin Tady and the other two ISHRs so we're all
aware of what has occurred. It depends whether I'm working
on something previously which has been left over, I'11 try
and work through that.

Q. Do you mean an investigation?

A. Yes, yes. That sort of stuff. Or a complaint, it may
be a complaint. I might be sending an email with what

I call a mine record entry to the mine asking for some
documents, so I can review. That sort of stuff.

Q. Review in relation to what?

A. To the complaint. So it may be, oh, I don't know, has
the system been followed when a bloke's been taken through
his fitness for duty or his medical, you know, that sort of
thing.

Q. When you participate in an investigation, do you
create a report of some sort?
A. We have 1in the past, yes.

Every time or most times?
Generally most times, yes.

Q

A

Q. Do you provide that report to anyone?

A. Well, I haven't done one, but I'm aware that it has
been done and been provided to other people.

Q. I mean, do you provide a report to the inspectorate?
You are participating in their investigation. Do you
provide a report to them?

A. I haven't, no.

Q. So how do you actually participate? The word rather
suggests that you are engaged in the investigation and
there is cooperation. How do you get across to them your
impression of the accident and your cause, perhaps, for the
accident?

A. Well, obviously there would be discussions, ongoing
discussions, during an investigation process. This is what
used to occur. It's sort of - since the relationship broke
down, there hasn't been - in my words, it hasn't been as --

Q. Cooperative?
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A. Yes, cooperative.

Q. But it is no more formal than that, rather, just
talking about it, exchanging views orally, verbally?

A. Well, that's what I'm aware of, but I'm certain that
there's another person going to give evidence that may
have - I'm aware that he's provided reports to --

THE CHAIRPERSON: A1l right. Thank you, Mr Woods. We
will wait to hear, then. Mr Holt?

<EXAMINATION BY MR HOLT:

MR HOLT: Q. Good morning, Mr Woods. Just one matter,
perhaps, if we can clarify what I think might be a mistake
in your affidavit. Could we have a Took, please, at
paragraph 51 of Mr Woods' affidavit. This is a note about
something which occurred at the Moranbah North coal mine.
The circumstances are less important than the fact that you
note here that you had been told of a particular thing by
the SSHR, and you had said:

Had the SSHR not contacted me about this,
I would not have known about it ..

Do you see that?
A. Yes, yes.

Q. You refer there to an annexure to your statement,
SW-3, which was a letter that you wrote in follow-up to the
SSE, making several perfectly sensible inquiries about what
had occurred?

A. Yes.

Q. Can we just have a look at that document, please. It
is at 0043 of this document. This is the letter that you
are talking about, the communication with Mr Stephan,

Paul Stephan --

A. Yes.

Q. -- who is the SSE?

A. Yes.

Q. You can see there it was a note sent on 1 June 2020,

and it says:

Today, the 1st June 2020 at 07.43 hours
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I received a text from Underground Mine
Manager - Mr Michael Lerch ...

Do you see that?
A. Yes.

Q. So you would accept, then, that you were in fact first
notified of that incident by Michael Lerch, the underground
mine manager, by text message, contrary to what you had
indicated in your affidavit, which was that you had learnt
it from the SSHR?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you. Coming, then, to some of the issues that
Mr Rice was asking you about - and I'm going to focus here
in particular on the things that you say about the SSHRs
and the relationship with the SSHRs at Grosvenor. Do you
understand the topic that I'm talking about? I'm talking
about the relationship and your understanding and views of
the roles and functions of the SSHRs at Grosvenor, which
are set out from paragraphs 19 to 24 of your statement.

A. Yes.

Q. Might we have those up, Mr Operator? I think that
would be helpful, in the circumstances. Obviously enough,
Mr Woods, and as you explained to Mr Rice, what you have
expressed in this part of your report are your opinions,
your views as to how things are operating and why they are
operating in certain ways?

A. Yes.

Q. You also explain impressions, might I suggest, that
you have received from others who you have spoken to, as
you discussed with Mr Rice?

A. Yes.

Q. While, of course, those Tived experiences and
impressions are important, you would accept also that it is
important to understand what the evidence base is for those
ideas, for those opinions that you hold, how accurate or
not accurate they are in fact; that's important?

A. Yes.

Q. Good. Now, if we then can have a 1ook at a couple of
the things that you have talked about today firstly, before
we come to that topic. One of the things you said about
the SSHRs - that 1is, the SSHRs at Grosvenor - was that they
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didn't attend the safety conference?
A. Yes.

Q. As I understood what you said to Mr Rice, the union
safety conference is the primary way in which you maintain
communication and relationships with SSHRs?

A. Yes.

Q. I think ultimately you might have suggested what

I think was implicit in Mr Rice's questioning, which was
that that conference is obviously a union-organised
conference - yes?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it true that the majority of people who are
attending are in fact already union members?
A. Yes.

Q. Now, you are aware also, I think, that there is a sort
of whole-of-sector conference each year called the
Queensland mining safety conference, which occurs each
year?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you attend that, I'm sure?
A. No.

Q. You don't attend that. 1In any event, in terms of
attending conferences talking about safety issues, it
wouldn't surprise you, would it, to know that SSHRs attend
those conferences, or that conference?

A. Yes.

Q. But, equally, in terms of your conference, that is,
the union-organised safety conference, I imagine you would
hope that given we're talking about Anglo Grosvenor, let's
talk about Anglo Grosvenor - you would hope that Anglo
Grosvenor management would tell their SSHRs about the union
safety conference - yes?

A. Yes.

Q. And you would hope that they would offer for them, in
fact, invite them to go?
A. Yes.

Q. And you would hope that they would offer them leave on
that basis so that they weren't suffering financially?
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A. Yes.

Q. And I take it you would be pleased to know from me -
and there will be material in this inquiry later - that
that's exactly what happened, that the SSHRs at Grosvenor
are offered to attend and given leave in order to do so?
So you would be pleased to hear that, I would imagine?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you. Dealing, then, with this issue of the
relationship between the ISHRs, or you in particular, and
the SSHRs at Grosvenor, you note in your statement that you
haven't developed contacts with them, as you did not have
contacts for them and they didn't seem interested. That's
what you have said in your statement?

A. Yes.

Q. You also say that the SSHRs - and this 1is in the bit
about Grosvenor - are frequently changing and you have been
unable to keep up with those changes?

A. Yes.

Q. Again, that last statement, that they have frequently
changed and you have been unable to keep up with the
changes, I'm wondering what the evidence base is for that
proposition. Who are you talking about, and when did they
change?

A. Well, in between inspections, I didn't know that
Reece, Mr Campbell, had changed and taken up the role of
SSHR.

Q. Between which inspections, Mr Woods?

A. When I did inspections at the mine.

Q. I understand that. I'm talking about when?

A. Oh, without looking at some documents, I can't --

Q. So is that the single example - and I will come back

to whether it is accurate or not in a moment. Is that the
single example which is the basis for the proposition that
SSHRs are frequently changing and you have been unable to

keep up with the changes?

A. Yes.

Q. You also say of the relationships with the SSHRs at
Grosvenor that the SSHRs who are labour hire are
problematic because of turnover, Tack of experience in the
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role, and it can be difficult to keep up with who has the
role?
A. Yes.

Q. Tell me this: Tlet's take 6 May because of the way the
terms of reference are framed. Prior to 6 May, were you
aware of who the SSHRs were at Grosvenor?

A. No.

Q. That was a fact that would have been pretty easy for
you to find out, who the SSHRs were in fact at Grosvenor?
A. Yes.

Q. And you never attempted to find out who they were?
A. No.

Q. So I'm interested, then, when you said "they didn't
seem interested in engaging with me", if you didn't know
who they were, how is it that you were able to form the
view that they weren't interested in engaging with you?
A. Oh, that's probably from the event on 6 May.

Q. We will come back to that in a moment. 1In any event,
you have attributed, again as a matter of impression at
least or opinion, status as a Tabour hire workforce, in
effect, or a labour hire employee or contractor, to this
high turnover and lack of interest by the SSHRs in a
relationship with you and Grosvenor; is that right?

A. Can you just repeat that question?

Q. Sure. You have indicated in your affidavit that one
of the reasons why you consider you've been unable to
establish a relationship was because the SSHRs are
frequently changing - 3yes?

A. Yes.

Q. As I understand 1it, you attribute that to their status
as labour hire folk rather than as employed Anglo folk?
A. Yes.

Q. Now, given that you didn't know who the SSHRs were,
may we take it that you also didn't know anything about
what their status in fact was?

A. Yes.

Q. So if I told you that of the two relevant SSHRs at
that time, one was a labour hire person, Mr Reece, and the
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other was in fact an Anglo employee, you can suddenly see
that we have both examples there -yes?
A. Yes.

Q. But you in fact indicate you had no joy in
establishing a relationship with them, either of them?
A. Yes.

Q. But you didn't know who they were?
A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Equally also, by the way, given you didn't know who
they were, you probably didn't know that each of them had
in fact been employed by Anglo at Grosvenor since April
20147

A. No. I didn't know that.

Q. Did you also know or not know that each had been
appointed SSHRs by vote in accordance with the statutory
regime since September 20187

A. No, I didn't know that.

Q. And had maintained those roles from 2018 right through
until the events that we are concerned about here, indeed,
right through until now?

A. No, I didn't know that.

Q. So now that you know those things, would you accept
that there is at least a significant risk borne out by what
we have just been discussing of you having impressions of
people and their motivations and their roles and even the
facts of their employment which might not be borne out in
reality?

A. I suppose you could say that.

Q. Thank you. Again, I'm not trying to deprecate for

a moment the critical importance of the Board understanding
how coal mine workers are in fact perceiving these issues -
that's really important, right? But you would also
understand that it is critically important to be factually
accurate about those things?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you. On that note, I suppose, you have made
some claims in your statement about more generalised views
of the workforce at Grosvenor and the way in which they
felt about talking to you when you came to site - yes?
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A. Yes.

Q. Can we just tease that out. You explained I think to
Mr Rice earlier that you try and do inspections of coal
mines annually?

A. We try, yes.

Q. In terms of Grosvenor, then, from the records that we
have and which are before the board, the previous
inspection - that 1is, prior to the May incident - had
occurred in January of this year, January 20207

A. Not by me, no.

Q. No, I was going to say that. Not by you; in fact, by
Mr Watts?
A. Yes.

Q. So prior to that, then, just so we've got a sense of
your experience actually on the site, which appears to be
the basis for some of the views you've expressed, how Tong
before that were you on the site?

A. I can't - it would be a guess if I said it.

Q. Would you mind giving us a ballpark, recognising that
it's not going to be a day or a time or whatever
specifically. If we take January 2020 as a marker when

Mr Watts was on the site, how long before that was it when
you were on the site gaining the impressions that you have
discussed with us?

A. No, I wouldn't guess.
Q. A year, six months?
A. Like I said, I wouldn't guess. I don't know. I would

have to have a look at my - our records.

Q. Sure. Can we get a sense, then, just so we understand
the evidence base for the opinions you have expressed about
the views of coal mine workers at Grosvenor, say if we

take May of this year as a marker, if we can go back from
there within that previous, I don't know - let's go back to
September 2018, when the new SSHRs were appointed. In that
time, would you have visited that mine zero times, once,
twice, what are we talking about?

A. I would say zero in that time.

Q. So when you describe, then, in your statement things
like having - I will just make sure I get the language
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right. I apologise. Just give me a moment. "People

I know personally who work at the mine won't go near me
when I attend the site" - that's an experience that is at
least further back than September 20187

A. Yes.

Q. You mentioned something in your evidence to Mr Rice

about that issue as well. You talked about attending -

I had a note - their branch meetings as a place where those
views were being expressed to you?

A. That was a general term with all - with mines.

Q. No, I don't think it is. What do you mean by - what's
a branch meeting?

A. Like - well, if there was a branch of the CFMEU at the
site, they sometimes hold meetings, and that was a general
term in relation to different mines, and we've attended
branch meetings.

Q. You've described the site safety health officers not
accompanying you on coal mine inspections; do you recall
that?

A. I said there was a safety rep that accompanied me
prior.
Q. Yes, but that wasn't my question. You were asked -

you explained before that SSHOs - and it seemed to be part
of the basis of your opinion for why Grosvenor was somehow
different, that SSHOs didn't accompany you on site
inspections; do you recall saying that?

A. Sorry, what?

Q. You were saying that SSHOs weren't accompanying you on
site inspections and you were pointing that out as a way in
which the relationship wasn't working between you and them?
A. Yes, I said there was a safety rep that did go with
us.

Q. You were talking - sorry, I apologise. SSHRs. You
were specifically talking about SSHRs not accompanying you
on site visits. You were being asked by Mr Rice about that
relationship.

A. Yes.

Q. And you said they didn't accompany you.
A. Prior to 6 May?
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Q. Yes.

A. Yes - yes.

Q. So prior to 6 May, we now know that there was an
inspection in January that you didn't conduct - yes?

That I wasn't there for, yes.

A.
Q. So you don't know what happened there?

A. No.

Q. Can I tell you the SSHR, according to the mine record
entry, was present at the invitation of the SSE and met
with Mr Watts both before and after the underground visit -
would you accept that?

A. Yes, I would accept that.

Q. As I understood your evidence just a moment ago, you
think you conducted zero inspections between that date and
right back to at least September 2018?

A. Yes.

Q. In other words, you have no experience at all of the
SSHRs who have been appointed by statutory process from
September 2018 and whether or not they accompany on trips
at all1?

A. Yes.

Q. Can we talk, then, for a moment, please, about advice
about HPIs and the way in which - I'm sorry, I withdraw
that. Let me just come back to another topic. We were all
asked at the outset of this inquiry by the Chairperson to
look closely at the people involved, at their own processes
and their own issues. Is there anything in the comments or
the questions that Mr Rice was asking you that has caused
you to think about how you might do better in terms of
engaging with non-union coal mine workers?

A. I probably haven't thought about it since Mr Rice -
because I'm up here, but - yes.

Q. That's fair. That's an entirely reasonable answer.
Now, HPIs. You understand, don't you, that HPIs have to be
reported to both the inspectorate and then to you, that is,
to a person in your role?

A. That's correct.

Q. If I said that the records that we have indicate that
from an Anglo perspective, at least, that advice to you
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following the advice to the inspectorate happens usually
within minutes, certainly no more than an hour, would that
be consistent with at least your understanding of the way
in which things have worked for you?

A. From all Anglo mines?

Q. Well, let's take the ones that you are involved in,
obviously enough.

A. Okay. No, that's not my experience. Some I get in

excess of some time.

Q. In excess of some time?

A. Yes.

Q. After the event's occurred?
A. Yes, yes.

O

No, I'm talking about from the point at which the
1nspector is told, because you understand there is a joint
responsibility or a dual responsibility?

A. Yes.
Q. So the mine has to tell the inspector and you?
A. Yes.

Q. You understand that effectively happens at about the
same time - yes? Sorry, we have a transcript, so --
A. Sorry. Yes.

MR HOLT: Thank you, Mr Martin.
THE CHAIRPERSON: Mr Roney?
<EXAMINATION BY MR RONEY:

MR RONEY: Q. Mr Woods, my name is Peter Roney. I'm
appearing for One Key. You might be aware of that. Just
picking up on a question that Mr Holt asked you a moment
ago, which he perhaps moved on from a 1ittle too early, he
asked you whether you had given consideration to how you
might do better in engaging with non-union members, and he
framed it by reference to thinking about that since Mr Rice
started asking you questions today. But it is fair to say,
isn't it, that the point that you have sought to make in a
number of places in your affidavit is that you do have
significant difficulty in engaging with non-union
membership on the mine sites that you have referred to?
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A. Yes, yes.

Q. And no doubt the opportunity to consider why that is
has arisen for you on many occasions?

A. It's arisen, yes, but on the amount of occasions

I couldn't tell you.

Q. It is true to say, isn't it, that in the course of
expressing your impressions and opinions as they have been
described, you have not gone back to any data or
documentary records or any other kinds of records to see
whether there is any record which corroborates your
opinions about these matters that you have told us about?
A. Yes, that would be correct.

Q. Does the CFMEU, or its new name these days - does it
keep records of the source from which complaints are made,
for example, whether it is a union member or a non-union
member, whether it is a labour hire person or not a labour
hire person?

A. No, I don't - I don't believe so.

Q. So we couldn't find that information by looking at
CFMEU records?
A. No, that's correct.

Q. On any occasion whilst you have had the role of an
ISHR, have you ever communicated with any Tabour hire
supplier, so the company that supplies the labour hire, to
try to liaise with them about your relationship with their
workers?

A. I have had reason to write to another Tlabour hire
company, WorkPac.

Q. I'm not here for them --
A. No, no.
Q. -- but I can ask you a question about it. Did you

find that in your dealings with WorkPac, they were willing
to engage with you about whatever it was that you were
engaging about?

A. It was actually - yes, they answered the issue that
was at hand.

Q. I know that this was already asked of you this morning
concerning the percentages of union membership and so on,
and you weren't able to give us any data about that, but
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are there statistics kept within the CFMEU about what
proportion of labour hire employees are union members?
A. I can't --

Q. That's something you wouldn't know?
A. No, I don't know.

Q. But do you agree that it's Tlikely or unlikely -
perhaps help us out with that. Is it Tikely that the union
will have kept those statistics?

A. I think we keep membership by employer, so, yes,
maybe, but I'm not in that department. I'm not in that
department.

Q. But obviously some of these individuals might, in a
given month or year, be under labour supply, and in another
year they might be an employee of a mine?

A. That's probably correct, yes.

Q. From the perspective of an outside observer, unless
you saw the documentation that changed hands about who
their employer was, for all intents and purposes they would
look 1ike a coal mine worker who had worked in that mine
for a considerable period?

A. Yes, probably.

Q. So in those circumstances, how would the CFMEU be
aware of whether they were a Tabour hire supply or a mine
employee?

A. I don't - I don't know how they are aware of it, no.

Q. You have told us some of your opinions and impressions
about the way in which Tabour hire employees perform their
tasks. Is the reality of the matter that you don't
actually know whether a particular individual is of labour
hire supply or a mine employee on a given occasion?

A. No, no, I wouldn't know unless they wanted to tell me.
I suppose Grosvenor is a bit of a different circumstance
because the majority of coal mine workers at Grosvenor are
employed by One Key.

Q. I don't know what the number of employees is at
Grosvenor, perhaps someone else can help us with this, but
do you have any idea what the number of coal mine workers
at Grosvenor mine is?

A. No.
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Q. When you say "coal mine workers", do you mean just
those who are at the Tower echelons of the employment
hierarchy or do you include everyone up to the SSE?

A. No, I would say that coal mine workers, by definition,
is everyone up to the SSE.

Q. I accept that. So you're referring to everyone who
works on the mine?
A. Yes.

Q. I can tell you that there are 406 One Key employees,
or there were at the time of the incident in May this year,
at Grosvenor. Can you tell us how it is that you arrive at
the conclusion that the majority at Grosvenor mine were

One Key employees or other Tabour supply employees? You
can't, can you?

A. No.

Q. Do you know whether there were any other employees on
that mine site on that date or before that date, in the
relevant months preceding it, who were of labour hire from
some other organisation other than One Key?

A. I'm not aware.

Q. You can't tell us that?
A. No.

Q. You told the Chairperson - I think I have the right
questioner there - that there was prioritisation of the
complaints that were received, whether they were from union
or non-union membership; you gave priority to those that
came from union members. That's what you said, isn't it?
A. Yes, yes. If they come at the same time as such, you
know what I mean?

Q. I see. And do they often come at the same time?
A. No, not necessarily.
Q. Is there some directive or some understanding within

the union that there is that priority given to union
memberships' complaints?
A. Oh, no, it's probably a personal thing.

Q. A personal thing?
A. Yes.

Q. That's the way you do it, is it?
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A. Yes.

Q. Is that the way the other officers of the union that
you know of do 1it?

A. You'll have to talk to them.

Q. I will have to talk to them?

A. Yes.
Q. So you don't know what they do about it?
A. No, no.

O

You were also asked some questions by counsel
ass1st1ng about the way in which you might be perceived as
a union repres